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--- Upon commencing at 1:08 p.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Good afternoon, everyone.  The Board is sitting today to hear the presentation of a settlement proposal pertaining to Hydro Ottawa's application for 2008 rates.


For the record, with me today is Board member Bill Rupert.  My name is Paul Vlahos.  I'll be presiding.


Appearances, please?


APPEARANCES:
     MR. FARRELL:  Yes, Jerry Farrell for Hydro Ottawa, Mr. Chair.  And with me, starting to my left, Lynne Anderson, and to her left, Jane Scott, and to my right, Mike Grue, and to his right, Bill Bennett. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Good morning, Mr. Farrell.

     MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan for the Consumers Council of Canada. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman.  John DeVellis for the School Energy Coalition. 

     MR. MacINTOSH:  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe Research Foundation. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Anyone else?

     MS. HELT:  Maureen Helt for counsel for the Board Staff.  And with me I have Ken Graham, manager, regulatory audit, Harold Thiessen, who is case manager, Board Staff, and behind me is Ted Antonopoulos, also on Board Staff.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.


Any preliminary matters, Mr. Farrell?


--- Technical difficulties.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Farrell, I was asking for any preliminary matters, but perhaps you can hear me out for a couple of sentences before you jump in, if you have any.  And basically, that is the general plan that I suggest I will proceed with.


We will ask Board Staff to ask any questions first.  If Staff makes any comments as a result of the answers they may receive from you or from the other parties, then the applicant and the other parties will have an opportunity to respond to those.


Now, we will then turn over to you and the parties to talk about the settlement proposal, specifically starting with the three issues that have been partially settled or completely settled or non-settled.  And the Board will be asking questions on those first. 


So full-on discussion of those three issues.  Then the Board will have questions on the settled issues, all right?  So that is the general plan.  Hopefully we can issue a decision today.  It all depends how it goes.


So that is the general plan.  So in light of that plan, do you have any other preliminary matters?

     MR. FARRELL:  I just have one, Mr. Chair, and that is, we were anxious to get it to you and your colleague as soon as we could, and in the process of finalizing it, I after the fact found three clerical type errors.


And so with your permission, what we planned to do is to re-file it and correct the errors -- and I will indicate what they are in a minute, and then what the corrected version --  then Hydro Ottawa will upload it on to the Board's system.  


So I will just tell you what they are.  None of them change the meaning of anything.  On page 4, in the first line, under the heading "Parameters of settlement proposal", it should read "prepared in accordance", add the word "with", "Rule 32" and so on.  


On page 5 you will see in the incomplete paragraph, the last line of the incomplete paragraph, at the top of the page it uses the term "PWC opinion", when the definition is actually at the bottom of the page.  So we will just swing the definition up to the top of the page.  I don't think anybody would object to that.


And then the last one is, again, a typographical error on page 14, in the paragraph at the top of the page, fourth line, "this forecast of net OM", and add an ampersand, so it reads "OM&A".

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Farrell.  I am glad you did not give us a brand-new copy, because I have already made notes in it. 

     MR. FARRELL:  We will file a hard copy, so to speak, with the Board, just so the Board's paper record is accurate.  And as I say, what gets uploaded on to the Board's system will be the correct version. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  That is fine.


All right.  With that then we turn it over to Ms. Helt.

     MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Board Staff has no questions with respect to settlement proposal.  There are some submissions Board Staff would like to make.  With respect to the proposal, however, I don't know, Mr. Chair, if you would like those submissions at this time or after the settlement proposal has actually been presented.


--- Board confers.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Helt, why don't you go ahead and just give us those submissions now so the parties will know what it is all about? 


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. HELT:
     MS. HELT:  Certainly.  With respect to the settlement proposal, Board Staff has submissions concerning the deferral and various accounts, which are noted in Point 4.1, which is found on page 17 of the settlement proposal.  Specifically, there are three areas of concern that Board Staff would like to bring to the attention of the Panel.  I will list those three areas of concern and then deal with each one in detail thereafter. 


The first area of concern relates to the disposition of the PILs account 1562.  The second area of concern is the disposition of the RSVA power account.  And the third relates to the forecast of balances calculation.


With respect to the disposition of PILs account 1562, the settlement proposes to clear account 1562 deferred PILs.  Since the creation of this deferral account, no electricity distributor has been in a position to clear the balances in account 1562.  The methodology and policy for clearing this account has not been decided upon by the Board.


In addition, the balances in this account are not necessarily final, as the Canada Revenue Agency could still reassess Hydro Ottawa's taxes payable for the period covered by this account, that being the tax years 2001 through to 2005.


The second area of concern noted by Board Staff relates to the disposition of the RSVA power account.  The settlement as it reads now proposes to partially clear 1588 RSVA power.  The global adjustment sub-account of account 1588 is not proposed to be cleared.


This could have an impact on the Bill 23 process, as account 1588 is reviewed quarterly for disposition by the Board as part of this process.  Board Staff submits that the Panel may wish to consider the impact of this process of ordering partial clearance of 1588 RSVA power.


In addition, with respect to this point, and specifically with respect to Issue 4.1 on page 17, the settlement proposal refers to the regulatory assets decision in subparagraph E.  Specifically the settlement states the clearance of the commodity portion of 1588 RSVA power is consistent with the Board's decision in the regulatory assets decision.


Board Staff would like to point out that the regulatory assets decision can be distinguished in that in that case there was no Bill 23 yet in existence; nor was there global adjustment.  


The third area of concern that Board Staff would like to identify for the Panel relates to the forecast of balances.  Hydro Ottawa is forecasting principal balances that are being requested for disposition post December 31st, 2006, which is inconsistent with the usual practice in the electricity sector of disposing year-end principal balances of variance and deferral accounts with carrying charges forecasted up to the start of the new rate year.  The settlement specifically proposes to clear balances as of October 31st, 2007, with interest projected to April 30th, 2008.  


In the electricity distribution centre, it has not been Board practice to order clear reasons of principal balances of deferral and variance accounts that have not been independently audited and verified.


The usual practice for clearance in the electricity sector of the variance and deferral accounts is to use the most up-to-date audited balances as supported by audited financial statements plus forecasted carrying charges on those balances up to the start of the new rate year. 


The most recent Hydro Ottawa balances that have been independently audited and verified are the December 31st, 2006, balances.  Board Staff does note that balances requested for clearance in the settlement proposal represent a $7.3 million credit to rate payer.  However, according to Hydro Ottawa's response to Board 

Staff interrogatory 60 (a), if the December 31st, 2006, deferral and variance account balances were cleared, with the exception of account 1562, deferred PILs and 1588 RSVA power, the total credit to rate payers would be approximately $6 million.  This $1 million difference represents less than a 1 percent impact on Hydro Ottawa's revenue requirement. 


Those are the three areas of concern that Board Staff would like the Panel to consider, and those are Board Staff's submissions.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.  Mr. Farrell, did you want to respond to those now?

     MR. FARRELL:  Yes. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  And other parties, of course, if they wish to. 


MR. FARRELL:  First of all, I would point out that Issue 4.1 of the settlement proposal is part of the settlement package, so to speak, and the parties have not agreed that this issue is severable.  I think that is important to bear in mind.  I guess our concern about PILs and account 1562 is that if we wanted to clear it for the reasons expressed in the settlement proposal -- the fact that it has never been cleared, I don't think is really germane to your decision here.  We don't understand why there is a problem with establishing a methodology.  The RSVA power account, we don't consider that it endangers the Bill 23 process.  Again, this is something that has been lingering, and the Board seemed to methodically say, "No clearance at this time."  That is what the Board said in the most recent order that was issued on December the 28th.  
Interestingly enough, someone on Board Staff must have felt that September has 31 days because it refers to September 31st, 2007.  I just add that as a side comment.  


We've tried to provide the rationale for clearing the forecasted balances in the subparagraphs in the set element of Issue 4.1.  In particular, I think our answer to Board Staff's concern is that it is really set out there, and particularly in paragraph C and D, Board counsel distinguished, at least in Staff's eyes, the reference to the regulatory assets decision.  We don't think that that is necessarily binding, but we do point out that that was the effect of the regulatory assets decision and that Bill 23 process, in our eyes, is unaffected by the request that we are making in the settlement proposal of Issue 4.1.  


When I opened my comments, Mr. Chair, I mentioned that if the Board is of the view that Staff's submissions should be reflected, then I think that Hydro Ottawa and the intervenor will have to consider that an unfavourable decision, and we will have to decide collectively whether to proceed with the rest of the settlement proposal by carving this issue out or not.  That is something we haven't really discussed.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Farrell.  Any other party wish to comment on this? 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Mr. Chair, I just make one comment.  The reason why we have certainly supported Ottawa's proposal in this respect is we see the amounts owing to customers, and the longer that is delayed, that is not good for customers.  The other important point -- and Mr. Farrell can correct me if I am wrong -- but the fact that at the end of the day these amounts are ultimately trued up, so even if there is a variance between the audited and unaudited amounts, those amounts, that variance, would ultimately be trued up to keep both the shareholders of the company and the rate payers whole. That is an important principle and that is why we have supported this. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  That it would apply to also account 1562; that is the PILs?

     MS. GIRVAN:  I believe so.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  And that would not preclude Hydro Ottawa to participate in any future proceeding that may arise because of the more generic nature of what has been built into 1562? 

     MR. FARRELL:  Yes.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  I am sure Mr. Rupert may want the follow that up.  But with that -- any other comments? All right, there will be none.


Mr. Farrell, maybe we can turn to you, then, to take us through the three issues that are listed in the settlement proposal.  

     MR. FARRELL:  I should say at the outset, Mr. Chair, that there were five intervenors in this proceeding.  The four of them are parties to the settlement proposal.  The other intervenor was PowerStream, and PowerStream did not participate in the settlement conference.  As the settlement proposal states on page 6, the incompletely settled issue -- which is 4.2 -- which deals with new deferral or variance accounts, and the unsettled issue, 8.4, which deals with the mechanism for recovery of what Hydro Ottawa claims would be a revenue deficiency: they are two parts to a single issue.  The issue now is, in light of your decision on the interim rates, should Hydro Ottawa have a deferral account in which to record the revenue deficiency.  And the intervenors -- excuse me, the other parties to the settlement would have you answer "no" in both cases.  And when you read Issue 4.2 and 8.4 together, you see that it is really two sides of the same -- both sides of a coin.


So that issue is one that the parties have agreed can be dealt with in argument, and the preference of the parties, including Hydro Ottawa, is to have written argument.


Then the partially settled issue is 3.4, and this is the capitalization process, which refers to the capitalization policy and the related procedure of Hydro Ottawa.  It is on page 15.  And the other parties to the settlement, the Consumers Council, Energy Probe, and VECC, have accepted the process, the capitalization process, in principle, and they have accepted the monetary effect of that.  The School Energy Coalition has not accepted it in principle.  So that issue is one that would be the subject of an oral hearing.


So it would be a single-issue oral hearing if you accept the recommendation of the settlement parties to have the other two issues dealt with by means of written argument.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Farrell.


Mr. DeVellis, do you contemplate filing evidence?


MR. DeVELLIS:  No, we are not filing any of our own evidence, and we will be relying on cross-examination of the applicant's witness panel.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I am just wondering why you would insist on an oral hearing, as opposed to submissions. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I think in order to make our case that the change wasn't necessary at this time, we will need to have cross-examination of the applicant's witnesses.  And so that is why, in our view, oral evidence is necessary.

     MR. FARRELL:  May I add, Mr. Chair, that Hydro Ottawa wishes to have an oral hearing of that issue.  It is a very critical issue to us, and so we want to be able to have witnesses speak to it, rather than the lawyer just making submissions based upon the evidence. 


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Mr. Rupert?

     MR. RUPERT:  Mr. DeVellis, just so I am clear -- I think I am -- the settlement agreement says "in principle".  So you are saying, I guess to understand your position, that this accounting change need not have happened and should not happen. 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Yes, that is correct.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And the other parties, I am just wondering what participation they will have in that issue.  I am a little rusty about the settlement guidelines.

     MS. GIRVAN:  We are supporting the agreement, so we -- I don't believe we will be making any submissions, other than to say we support the agreement, which was part of a package.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  Mr. Buonaguro, is that --

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, as a partial settlement of an issue that we are participating in, we are agreeing that for Hydro Ottawa this capitalization should be accepted, the principle should be accepted, and we have agreed to the financial consequences as a part of the package. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So you would not engage -- 

     MR. BUONAGURO:  In the hearing -- sorry, and I guess what you are looking for is what is going to happen in the hearing?

     MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, right.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  If we ask questions, it would be in support of the company's position, as per the settlement. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And I understand Ms. Girvan doesn't contemplate doing that?  All right.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't have any cross-examination prepared for this issue. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  Mr. MacIntosh?

     MR. MacINTOSH:  We would not be asking questions, Mr. Chair. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  But you may be making submissions? 

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Only to the fact that we support the applicant. 

     MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Farrell, your package was accompanied by the PriceWaterhouseCooper's opinion.  Does Hydro Ottawa contemplate filing more material in advance of this oral hearing, other than what it had in the original application and the PWC opinion?

     MR. FARRELL:  No.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Mr. Chairman, if I could add a point of clarification.  Ms. Girvan mentioned that the capitalization policy was part of a package, and that is true.  However, it is not -- at least not my understanding that that issue -- that your determination of the acceptance of the settlement depends on your accepting the issue -- the decision on the capitalization issue.  In other words, that issue is severable from the rest of the settlement. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.

     MR. FARRELL:  The settlement package was defined as being the completely settled issues, and this is not, and so Mr. DeVellis is correct in his submission. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  I was just wondering whether the matter can be dealt with outside an oral proceeding, but I understand both parties -- I mean, the applicant and Mr. DeVellis's client -- would prefer an oral proceeding on that.

     MR. FARRELL:  It is Hydro Ottawa's preference, yes, Mr. Chair.  It is a very important issue to us. 

     MR. RUPERT:  If you don't mind, if I can take us back to the deferral accounts for a minute before we move on to the settled issues.  And I take your point, Mr. Farrell, about the severability issue and so on.


But I wanted to ask specifically about the PILs account, two things.  First, to be clear, that the proposal of the company is at the balance -- and I probably have the wrong number.  I have it from your application.  Maybe it has been modified since through interrogatories.  But I have a number here, about $914,000, something to that effect.  But there is a number in the application; is that right?

     MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, yes, I see it as $760,000 as the current filing. 

     MR. RUPERT:  Oh, sorry, I am looking at the wrong column.  Of course, yes, 760-, yes, 760,155.


Now, as I understand what you are saying on this adjustment mechanism, if the Panel -- if that were to be clear, starting May 1 through a rate rider, and subsequently, for example, the results of a tax audit came in and would adjust balances for these tax years in some way, your proposal is that whatever happens in that regard would get into this account and would get cleared through debit or credit to ratepayers, so that a decision to clear this account now, starting May 1, based on, say, the October 31 balance, doesn't close off the possibility of any further adjustments should there be things like tax audit changes.

     MS. ANDERSON:  We certainly can leave all of the accounts here open.  That was the intention.  We hadn't sort of specifically said to clear them.  We are also prepared to close that account and be done with it, as being historical.


But if that is a concern, then it is simply a matter of keeping those accounts open, and then if there was any subsequent entries, then it would happen in a subsequent period, and it would be subject to the next time we file an application to clear balances. 

     MR. RUPERT:  The reason I ask is -- and I realize we haven't made any kind of official announcement on this.  But the intention of the Board is to start a combined process -- you are probably aware of this -- involving you folks and the six or seven other distributors who have filed the 2008 cost of service for clearance of this account; something, I guess, akin to what the Board did on the transition costs and back earlier, and having emerging from that, hopefully, some clear -- any areas that are unclear can be clarified for the rest of the community, and we'd have regulatory certainty for everyone as to what should be in the account and when it should be cleared.  We haven't launched that yet, unfortunately, but that's coming soon.


So if we were to go through that process and get it wrapped up -- I am probably sure after May 1st, I suspect -- and the result of that was that there was an agreement and consensus that there is some way of calculating amounts that would change the balance of 760-, that would be adjusted in the account and reflected in any future clearance that that Panel and that process may make or otherwise. 

     MS. ANDERSON:  It certainly could be done.  I would ask the Board to consider, though, who should be party if there is a generic proceeding, because this is an account that all distributors were supposed to be using.  And so to pick those who simply wanted to put it behind them when you don't actually -- you know, may not examine the balances in other people's accounts --

     MR. RUPERT:  Yes.  No, the intention is to -- well, I shouldn't get too far ahead of myself -- but the intention is to clarify any areas where there may either be a complete lack of clarity of the guidance that has been put out there over the many years in the past on this account and what gets trued up and what doesn't, to deal with any different interpretations of the rules there might be between distributors, and possibly, if there are questions that were not even addressed in whatever rules those are that have arisen that people need to have answers to, that they can be resolved. 


It is not going to be clear without looking at the numbers in other distributors' accounts.  It would be to have a set of rules in place to the extent that there need to be any changes or clarifications that would be applied to those people in the future to clear the accounts, but it wouldn't be clearing those accounts sight unseen and picking Hydro Ottawa and doing something deeper and more in-depth with others.  I just wanted to clarify that.  That is one of the issues, particularly with these tax audits hanging around, for all the distributors; the question of closing off an account with great finality now is something we prefer.


If we left this in the settlement agreement, then we would not be closing off any options there.  If after this process everyone agrees, including Hydro Ottawa, that numbers should be calculated somewhat differently, we could still proceed with that. 

     MS. ANDERSON:  Certainly, as I said, we probably would have preferred to close it and put it behind us, but to achieve the settlement it needs to remain open for subsequent adjustments.  We didn't specify one way or the other in the settlement agreement or with other parties. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  So, it is not reflected in 4.1 (c) paragraph? 

     MS. ANDERSON:  It is reflected in the fact that if the accounts remain open, then if there were something that resulted from our year-end audit, it would simply be an adjusting entry in December and be part of a subsequent application, so that -- as Ms. Girvan mentioned -- the customer and the company are held harmless on it. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Are you willing to take some more specificity on this issue?  The company, that is? 

     MS. ANDERSON:  Specificity that the accounts remain open?

     MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  

     MS. ANDERSON:  I don't think that is an issue.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Can I ask the parties if there is any objection to that?

     MS. GIRVAN:  No objection.  Just to reiterate the point about making sure that the company and the ratepayers are held whole.  It is a matter of timing.  It simply becomes a matter of timing, not about quantum.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  We have no objections either. 

     MR. BUONAGURO:  No objection. 

     MR. MacINTOSH:  We have no objection, Mr. Chair. 

     MR. RUPERT:  The other question I wanted to ask on the deferral and variance accounts was on the RSVA power.  Maybe more for my education, but you have proposed the clearance of part of the account, but the piece related to the global adjustment variances you are not proposing to clear.  I think I understand some of the problems you get into when you are kind of a month in arrears with what the ISO is doing and what you are billing customers. 


The question I have of this:  Is that just going to essentially grow, or do you actually find that you do have major swings up and down, or is this balance continuing to grow?

     MS. ANDERSON:  The sub-account for global adjustment? 

     MR. RUPERT:  Yes.

     MS. ANDERSON:  The global adjustment account does tend to swing up and down.  It hasn't dropped much beyond the 4 million I think it was sitting at year-end audited, but there are certain -- because of timing differences, some swings.  I would note that because the commodity price has been relatively stable for a long period of time, the timing differences are less because you have a more stable number month after month.  Therefore I think we are becoming more and more confident that this amount is not going to self-clear, but we didn't include it for recovery because we needed to have that absolute confidence that it needed to be actually recovered, rather than clearing on its own. That is why we didn't include the global adjustment sub-account, just the commodity.

     MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, thanks.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Rupert.  Mr. Farrell, we will go through some of the questions that we have on the settled issues.  Mostly it is by way of clarification, and of course any of your assistants are free to jump in and assist us. 

     MS. HELT:  Mr. Chair, if I may just interrupt, Board Staff would just like to go back to the issue which we were dealing with in 4.1 (c) when we were talking about the disposition of those accounts.  We would like to just raise the issue for the Panel to consider whether or not there needs to be some more clarification with respect to that, as to which accounts will be final disposition and which will be interim.  It sounds as if what is being contemplated is that all of the accounts will really be considered interim, but if there could be some clarity around that, it may be helpful for the purpose of the settlement proposal.

     MS. ANDERSON:  If I could raise one concern there.  We weren't looking for interim approval of these recoveries.  We are looking for what we basically -- the same thing that happened as a result of the 2006 EDR was recovery of the balances, but the accounts remained open, so that there could be subsequent entries. So, it is not an interim approval, it was a final approval, but if there happened to be adjusting entries, then they can be made in a subsequent period.


Just to clarify, we are not seeking interim approval here.  Still the customer remains harmless because the accounts are ongoing, as they were with the 2006 EDR. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Just to clarify in my mind, the change can come about because of some kind of an audit, I guess, by some authority, right?  That is one source?  And obviously that would be captured in the account going forward.  And it can come about from a Board decision.   Mr. Rupert described that future initiative, future process, where Hydro Ottawa may be a direct participant and may not.  I don't know.  I don't think it matters.  But that would be another source where the Board may have more confidence to what has been captured in those accounts by the utilities and may have some awards going forward. So, that will be another source.


Will that be also captured into this so-called live account?

     MS. ANDERSON:  It certainly can be.  I guess we looked at it that probably the deferred PILs account, 1652, is the only one that the Board hasn't issued previous decisions on or had previous recovery for, so all of the other ones are virtually all of the same accounts that we had in our 2006 EDR; they are just ongoing, and other LDCs have had those reviewed and recovered, and there are previous decisions of the Board on them.  So the accounting on them I think is 100 per cent clear.  


I acknowledge that it wasn't as clear for the 1562, and therefore I would agree with you that any subsequent entry could be recorded. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  And just to leave this area, then, what words would I insert, or what would I change in paragraph 4.1 (c) to ensure what is described in terms of account 1562? 

     MS. ANDERSON:  I guess I was thinking words just of the nature that as these accounts will remain open, any subsequent adjustments as a result of a year-end audit or -- 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Or Board decisions? 

     MS. ANDERSON:  Or, yes, I guess that would be appropriate.  Or Board decisions would be recorded in those accounts.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Parties have heard that.  Any objections or concurrence with those possible amendments? 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  I think Ms. Anderson's language is fine. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  No objections, thank you. 

     MS. ANDERSON:  The important thing for us is it is not an interim approval. It is no different from what we were asking for in our 2006 EDR, it's just the clearing of these balances.  They remain open, so there is an opportunity for those subsequent entries.  

     MR. FARRELL:  Mr. Chair, because we are going to refile to correct those other errors, perhaps we could clarify paragraph (c) in consultation with Board Staff and the other settlement parties.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Farrell, you may be a little ahead of us.  We have to make a decision. 

     MR. FARRELL:  No, no, I understood that.  Assuming you want clarity --

     MR. VLAHOS:  I haven't thought that far ahead.  On that assumption, yes.  I am sure, assuming that the Panel is inclined to find so, that the record is quite clear as to what language should be inserted. 

     MR. FARRELL:  All right.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Farrell, what I will do is I will start, and my colleague will come in as appropriate.  I am going to go page by page, so there is no order other than just page by page.  So don't put any significance on it.  


If you turn to page 7 of the settlement proposal, you see the table on top of the page?  The fourth row is labelled "Increase in Return on Capital", and it has three columns with numerics.  The first one shows an amount of $4,606,000, and then the settlement drops to $2,209,000.


Now it wasn't clear to me, and Ms. Anderson, I am looking to you for this.  What is the source of the reduction in the settlement?  Is it rate-base-related?  Is it updates to forecasts of inputs to revenue -- to rate of return of common equity?  What is it? 

     MS. ANDERSON:  I would say there were two main drivers.  One was the movement of Smart Meter spending into a rate adder.  And so in that rate adder would be -- and you will see that at the bottom of that table of 4 million, included in that 4 million is some return on capital.  So it has been moved down.


The other one related to the working capital allowance update, which reduced the rate base, and therefore, with the reduced rate base, then the return decreased accordingly.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you for that.  

     MS. ANDERSON:  Oh, and I am just being reminded that the change in the stranded meters then changed the amortization, which again affected the rate base as well and, therefore, the return.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  That helps. 

     MR. FARRELL:  May I just have a minute?  Thank you.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  On page 10, the first full paragraph -- and Mr. Farrell, I am looking to you on this one -- the proposal is that this proceeding will adjourn sine die on that specific issue, Issue 4.2.  This is on the -- this is to await the results of a third-generation IRM, right? 

     MR. FARRELL:  Yes. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  This is on the capital additions and capital-expenditure side for 2009/2010.  So the proposal by the parties is to adjourn the proceeding sine die until matters are clarified for, I guess, the parties, the utility as well as the other parties. 


And my only question is this -- and it is a pretty esoteric one -- is this Panel being seized with that issue, since we have not heard any of the substantive matters? 

     MR. FARRELL:  I am thinking as I sit here.  I don't think we discussed that.  I think it would probably follow that -- well, I was going to say, follow that this Panel should do it, but if it would postpone the issue, and considering the evidence on the issue and the related responses to interrogatories, then I guess it could be the Board's choice.


It wasn't intended to bind this particular Panel.  It could be another Panel, at least in my initial thinking, only because you wouldn't -- your decision around the other issues wouldn't necessarily -- wouldn't even touch this, so --

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  

     MR. FARRELL:  The reason we made this proposal -- Hydro Ottawa, that is -- was the fact that we thought it could be dealt with more expeditiously than to have a fresh application, fresh evidence, fresh notice, and the process going along with it, because we had full discovery on this issue.  So the record as it now sits, subject to presenting witnesses and having testimony under cross-examination, would be a shorter process than it would be starting from scratch or starting from fresh. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Presumably, if we are talking about an IRM for, say, for the next year, 2009, for Hydro Ottawa, there will have to be an appropriate notice, whether it may be generic notice by the Board, may be specific by Hydro Ottawa.


So if it doesn't happen before 2009, then nothing is gained, I suspect.  It can be dealt at that time without holding this proceeding open.  So where will you find assistance in case the Board comes up with its report prior to that?  Is that --

     MR. FARRELL:  Well, the working assumption underlying this proposal was that the 3GIRM report would be available in the summer.  That is what the rumour on the street is.  Whether or not that fits with the Board's actual thinking on timing, we have no way of knowing. 

     MR. RUPERT:  Can I ask a question in respect of the way this is described?  And it says that you are awaiting the outcome of that process.  And it says:

"In the event that Hydro Ottawa is not satisfied with the third-generation IRM in this regard, the Board would resume the proceeding."


Now, I am not involved in any way, shape, or form with that, but the Board is going through and will be going through a process that was something for third-generation IRM, which I assume Hydro Ottawa and other distributors and other interested party will participate in, and they will come to some answer for third-generation.


Is this saying that if you don't like the answer, you will come back here, or is it more narrow, in which there may be some cases of circumstance that Hydro Ottawa may have that were not contemplated, don't fit, are inconsistent with the framework the Board establishes in third-generation?


The reason I ask the question is, the way this is worded, it suggests we could have every distributor coming back and saying, "I don't like third-generation IRM.  Let's reopen it again."  And I am wondering if that is what we are getting ourselves into here by this kind of language. 

     MR. FARRELL:  No, I think that the basis for the proposed capital adjustment factor was the fact that a similar process or methodology was rejected by the Board, in finalizing the 2GIRM report.  I think it was Hydro One that asked for a capital factor.


And it's Hydro Ottawa's circumstances with an aging infrastructure and so on that we need to have a capital additions in 2009 and 2010 taken into account for incentive regulation purposes.


So the rationale for it, as it was in the filed evidence, is Hydro Ottawa's particular circumstances require some recognition in the rates of the resulting -- or the revenue requirement that addresses the capital additions issue. 

     MR. RUPERT:  All right.  I understand.  I don't know if you appreciate my concern.  I just don't want whatever we, you know, approve in this process to be viewed by others that aren't in this room as a way to say, "Well, let's give it a shot in third-generation process, but, you know, it doesn't matter.  We're going to come back -- the Board will invite us back to get into the issue on our particular cases," and that is a way of perhaps eroding our third-generation consultation process and coming up with a general answer for the industry, if there is a way around it, if you see what I mean.


I know that is not your intention.  I am just concerned the wording might make that -- some people might interpret it that way. 

     MR. FARRELL:  That was certainly not the intention, and the intention of this -- rather than a fresh application -- is that so the evidence and the reasons for it are already on the record; so the particular to this proceeding, as opposed to the industry as a whole. 

     MR. RUPERT:  All right.  Thanks.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Farrell and Ms. Anderson, if you can turn to page 18 of the agreement, it's just a clarification, but I think it is important to ask the question.  It is the second full paragraph, which begins "Hydro Ottawa applied".  Do you see that?

     MR. FARRELL:  Yes. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  You see the second sentence?  It reads:

"The other parties did not agree that there would be any revenue deficiency, and even if there is one, they did not agree..."


And so on.


I read that, the reference to revenue deficiency, I think it pertains to the period in question.  We are talking about that period from January 1st to April 30th, right?

     MR. FARRELL:  Yes, correct.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  That is what I understood, but it was just not clear as to what –- All right.  Thank you for that.


In the same vein, the next paragraph, the penultimate sentence, which reads:

"The Board's consideration of the latter --"


And that refers to the B part above:

"The Board's consideration of the latter has been postponed.  See Issues 1.4, 1.5, and 1.6 above."


And I read that as the Board's consideration of the latter has been, as agreed by the parties, to be postponed; is that a fair reading?

     MR. FARRELL:  That is correct.  That assumes that you will accept the settlement of the other issues, which includes a postponement.  So we are saying, therefore, the deferral account should likewise be postponed.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Page 19, the very top of the page, it is the second line where there is reference to updating the ROE using January 2008 values in accordance with Appendix P of the report of the Board on cost of capital, et cetera.  I was just wondering, does the Board report contemplate any updates for debt costs apart from the return on common equity?  Maybe Staff can help me with that as well.  And if it does, then the agreement is silent on that? 

     MS. ANDERSON:  I believe it does with respect to short-term debt, the 4 percent of rate base, so it is a fairly immaterial amount.  We did not discuss that during the settlement conference, so I am not quite sure what parties' views are on that.  It is not a material amount, typically, because it is such a small portion of the overall capital structure. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right, but the process does call for an update for that at the same time as it calls for the update of the ROE; right? 

     MS. ANDERSON:  It does.  That is my understanding. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  So it is material, and I take it that parties don't have an issue with that? 


There being no response --

     MR. FARRELL:  I should mention that our preliminary calculation of the value for ROE based on the January consensus is that the ROE would be reduced from the applied-for 8.81 percent, to 8.49 percent.  That reduction and the PILs-related effect of it -- again that is a preliminary calculation -- is about a million-dollar reduction in the revenue requirement.

     MS. ANDERSON:  I would add it was very preliminary, just done this morning, so we would certainly want to double-check those numbers.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  On page 21, top of the page, that paragraph, not the full one, the one that continues from the previous page.  The very last sentence reads:

"The seminal light class is de minimus -- 95 lights that have been grandfathered and that will not be replaced when they fail."

 
So, grandfathered, I don't think they referred to the Board grandfathering them.  That is the company; right? 

     MR. FARRELL:  Correct.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right. 

     MR. RUPERT:  Back on page 20, Issue 6.3:  I think I understand what is being said there, but obviously the MDMR costs haven't started to flow from the ISO yet.  They have yet to even file an application to the Board for the costs and so on.  


No doubt there will be a whole process around that.  Every distributor ultimately will have to deal with the MDMR.  I just wondered -- nothing about the particular conclusions here, but I guess about the merits of dealing with this in each individual distributor, as opposed to waiting until first the Board does whatever it is going to do with the IESO fee application.  And then presumably -- and I'm guessing -- it says to all distributors,  "Here is the guidance for you and where you record it and the process of flowing it through to customers and so on."


There is nothing to record in the account now, of course.  Is this one that is really needed?  It is not because I have any disagreement with what is there, but I worry about having this kind of issue in all these separate cases in front of us, versus something that makes sense to deal with at one time for all distributors. 

     MS. ANDERSON:  I guess from Hydro Ottawa's point of view we are concerned about timing, given that we are one of the leaders in working on the MDMR issue with the ISO.  The Board's process has to be ahead of us, and things do change very rapidly.  What we didn't want to have to do is say we don't have confirmation that the prudently incurred costs related to this are recoverable, because the previous Board proceeding on Smart Meters said, "Do not include MDMR costs."  So it is simply the comfort that they are recoverable costs. 

     MR. RUPERT:  I appreciate that.  I am just assuming --maybe wrongly -- but I am assuming that once this Board gets an application and makes a decision on the fee, the Board has to be involved before you start writing any cheques on this, and so at that point there is a chance to give general guidance to everybody at one time.  But I understand what you are saying.  All right.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Moving on to page 23, under Issue 8.5.  The first part, the complete statement reads:

"The other parties have accepted Hydro Ottawa's proposed interim standby rates for 2008 subject to adjustment in accordance with the settlement package and the Board's decision on Issue 3.4."


Can you just, Ms. Anderson, tell us what the connection of Issue 3.4 is with standby rates? 

     MS. ANDERSON:  Certainly.  The Board's ultimate decision on 3.4 will affect our overall revenue requirement, and that revenue requirement affects each class, and this is a separate class of customer, for the standby charges, so it would affect that class as well.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you for that. 

     MS. ANDERSON:  Those classes, I should say. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  So standby rates is a separate class for --

     MS. ANDERSON:  There are three separate classes there.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  And they will be driven by O&M --

     MS. ANDERSON:  By the final determination of the revenue requirement.  And Issue 3.4 basically affects both OM&A and capital expenditures, depending on the decision. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Finally, on page 24 under 8.7, dealing with LV rates.  The settlement reads:

"The other parties have accepted Hydro Ottawa's proposed new LV rates."


When you refer to new LV rates, you refer to Hydro Ottawa's new LV rates, not Hydro One's new, as proposed in the current filing; is that fair? 

     MS. ANDERSON:  Correct, it is the rate that we would have to charge customers in order to recover the cost that Hydro One will ultimately charge us.  Of course that is not determined yet, exactly what they will charge us.  We have forecasted that to be basically at the same levels that they previously have been.  The differences are then recorded in an LV variance account.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right, so you have not reflected Hydro One's new proposal for 2008?

     MS. ANDERSON:  We did not, but the differences would be recorded in the variances account for future, either plus or minus.


Mr. Vlahos, if I could make a clarification.  The Board's cost of capital report does make mention of long-term debt as well, but I think it is with respect to those who use a deemed debt, and that is not Hydro Ottawa's case.  We have actual debt and therefore that decision does not affect us.  I just want to clarify. 

     MR. VLAHOS:   Right, that is the long-term debt side. 

     MS. ANDERSON:  Right, but we have external debt. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Farrell or other parties, any comments arising from the Panel's questions on this? 

     MR. FARRELL:  None from me, sir.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.

     MS. HELT:  Counsel for Board Staff would like to raise one issue, and that, again, relates to the PILs account.  I believe there is a question from the Panel Member concerning keeping 1562 open for final adjustments because of a potential proceeding that could impact that balance.

Perhaps a point for clarification could be whether or not Hydro Ottawa also intends, or if the Panel member was intending to include account 1592 to be treated in the same way as account 1562. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  92, for the record, is what, Ms. Helt?

     MR. RUPERT:  92 is the post-May 1, '06 balances. 

All I can say is I don't know at this stage -- and I am not drafting up the material for this thing we are going to announce -- what this combined proceeding will do, whether it will be restricted just to 1562 or get into the issues with respect to 1592, because there is a connection, particularly if there is reassessment on some of these things, I suppose.


So I think the company's not proposing to clear 1592 here; are you?

     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  Oh, I misunderstood that.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, we are.  Those were the differences reflected from our 2006 EDR and the fact that the LCT was removed --


MR. RUPERT:  No, I understand.


MS. ANDERSON:  -- and there were changes to class 47, as well, that we reflected in that.  We weren't --

     MR. RUPERT:  Ms. Helt, your question then would be in terms of keeping things open for subsequent adjustments. 

     MS. HELT:  That is correct. 

     MR. RUPERT:  All right.  I understand better.


Let me ask Hydro Ottawa what they propose, in light of our discussion. 

     MS. ANDERSON:  We assumed that the account remained open, that if there were further changes in tax rates in 2008, that they would be recorded in that account. 

     MR. RUPERT:  But I guess your question strikes me as not so much that as, should there be anything coming out of the proceeding focused on 1562 that might have -- because that may affect the opening tax pools, for example -- I don't mean tax pools, I mean true-ups and so on, that might have a ripple effect.


I haven't thought through the details, but that is the kind of question in connection you are referring to, I think; wasn't it, Ms. Helt?  Should there be anything coming out of the 1562 decision -- and I can't imagine what it is at this point -- but that could affect some of the calculations that went into the 1592 account?  Would that be kept open in the same way? 

     MS. ANDERSON:  I can't imagine how 1562 would affect 1592.  It is a completely different methodology with those two accounts.  But if there was something, I mean, we are basically agreeing that both could remain open. 

     MR. RUPERT:  Well, refresh my memory.  What are the three things -- there's three things listed at least for 1592, one of them being tax-rate changes.  I thought one of them was reassessments and so on.  Is that one of the factors that --

     MS. ANDERSON:  So it would have to be a reassessment, though, I assumed, of something post-May 1st, 2006.  But I can't recall whether that is specifically what it said. 

     MR. RUPERT:  Yes, so whether or not it's a possibility -- maybe there is no connection -- but just if we could assume for a minute there might be an issue which could have some sort of a spill-over connection, would it be your intention to keep 1592 in that respect open as well, if there is any -- for example, if something in the 1562 decision changed a number that would -- well, I shouldn't even posit.  It is hard to imagine, isn't it?

     MS. ANDERSON:  It is hard to imagine.  If there was something that we can't imagine, I don't see a problem with the fact that they are both open and could record things.

     MR. RUPERT:  Yes, so even though we can't think of a particular example, you wouldn't be averse to keeping them both open for things that might flow out of this combined proceeding or similar things? 

     MS. ANDERSON:  That would be fine.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Farrell -- Ms. Helt, are you okay?

     MS. HELT:  Yes, thank you. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Farrell, just going back to the procedural matters.  The proposal is to have an oral hearing with respect to the issue on capitalization -- 

     MR. FARRELL:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  -- and a written argument with respect to the other two issues, 4.2 and 8.4.  I am just wondering whether there was any thought given to -- since we are going to get together in the same time, the same room --whether it would make sense to have oral submissions on Issues 4.2 and 8.4.  We have allotted about four days, I believe, to this proceeding; oral proceeding, the oral part.

     MR. FARRELL:  Well, speaking for Hydro Ottawa, that would be fine.  It would be probably more efficient than a two-pronged process.  Oral hearing with witnesses examined in-chief and cross-examined, and then unless you wanted to have written argument, then with a bit of a break between the end of the evidence, we would be prepared to argue all three of the issues.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Well, my anticipation was that if, you know, the oral hearing with respect to the capitalization issue will result also in oral argument, as opposed to written argument, it seems to be more expedient that way. 

     MR. FARRELL:  Yes. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  And based on that sort of assumption, why can't we hear argument about Issues 4.2 and 8.4?  So you would not object to that.

     MR. FARRELL:  No.  But may I ask a question as to what are the days for the hearing in the Procedural Order?  There was some talk during the settlement conference that there be a change in dates; in other words, oral hearing might start on February the 1st. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  No, I believe that's not on -- 

     MS. HELT:  I believe the hearing right now is scheduled for February 4th through to the 8th, with the Wednesday off.

     MR. FARRELL:  Thank you.  There was some talk during the settlement conference that there might be a change, but that was --

     MS. HELT:  That is correct.  There was discussion.  But as the Procedural Order stands, it is February 4th through to the 8th. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Can I ask the other parties' views whether Issues 4.2 and 8.4, instead of a written argument, it can be dealt with by way of oral argument as early as February 4th?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Mr. Chair, my concern is actually with Issue 3.4, the reason being we would be hearing evidence on that issue in the morning, and without having an opportunity to consult the transcript, we would have to prepare submissions the same day.  Typically, we have some time to review the transcript before we prepare our submissions.


So in that case I would ask for some time -- a brief period to prepare submissions for -- on Issue 3.4, and since we are doing that, then we would just do it all together.  My preference is written for everything, but if it is oral, then that is fine as well.  But I would like some time.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So one day would be sufficient, Mr. DeVellis, from -- 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  You mean, come back on the Tuesday? 

     MR. VLAHOS:  I don't know, I guess the 4th is Monday, and I presume we will finish Monday the evidentiary portion of it. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  And then have the Tuesday, and then come back Wednesday -- no, we cannot sit on Wednesday, so Thursday.  So as an alternative to a written process. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I think that is fine, although I think there is another Board process going on that day that a lot of us will be involved in. 

     MR. THIESSEN:  Yes, I think that we have given up the Thursday, which is the 7th, I think, but we still have the Friday, which is the 8th.  

     MR. FARRELL:  What I was going to suggest, Mr. Chair, is that -- I have no idea how long the cross-examinations will last, but if we were to finish by, say, one o'clock with the evidence on the Monday, I don't think the oral arguments, if that is the route you choose, would be lengthy when there actually only are four active intervenors and one applicant.


If we scheduled oral argument for early afternoon on the Tuesday, then that may provide enough time for all of us.  Assuming that we were finished the evidence by noon, we could have the afternoon and the morning. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Can I ask the other parties what their views are on this? 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


My constraint would be the availability of my counsel, which I haven't checked with.  In terms of oral argument, we would likely prefer written, given it is essentially one issue.  But if the Board decides they want oral, then I would have to see about Mr. Warren's availability. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Well, we certainly don't want to complicate anybody's life on this.  One of the reasons that drives this is that it is an opportunity for us also to ask questions, and we just don't have that opportunity in a written process.


In any event, I don't think it is necessary for us to make a decision today.  We can follow that up through Board Staff and see what would work best for the parties.


So with that then, I suggest that we break for about a half hour, a coffee break, and the Panel will turn its mind to the issues that we heard today, and we will give you a decision. 

     MR. RUPERT:  Can I just ask one question further, just at the very end before we break, on this issue that all the parties are interested in, 4.2 and the related issue?


The settlement agreement says, with respect to the intervenors,

"Their individual positions in this regard are partially set out in their respective submissions and interim rates that went into the Board's PO No. 2, dated December 12th –"

And so on.


Can I ask the intervenor group: the word is "partially".  Do they expect to be providing a whole lot more in different areas of the arguments that might have gone into those interim rate decisions?  I am just wondering to what extent there is going to be -- from your perspective -- there is a lot of new material that would be in argument with respect to Issue 4.2 and the related Issue 1.4, I guess?

     MS. GIRVAN:  I can say off the top of my head I don't anticipate that our argument would be much different than what we have argued before, because essentially the issue is really whether there should be some deferral account.  We have already made our arguments that we don't think that is appropriate.  I can say that as a preliminary comment, but --

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I think much of the argument for why interim rates were not appropriate is the same argument for why we think that the deferral account to recover the same amounts that the interim rates were supposed to protect are inappropriate.  I would anticipate, for example, if we were doing written argument, I would be doing a lot of cutting and pasting from my original argument on interim rates, and possibly referring to the decision the Board has already rendered on interim rates on this particular hearing. 


The unknown, of course, is whatever arguments the company makes that differentiate somehow their deferral account argument from their interim rate argument.  I don't know if I can even anticipate everything that they say, but it is very similar.  

     MR. RUPERT:  That is helpful.  I just wanted to get a sense before the break as to what we were going to hear.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Let's make it half an hour.  We will return at 10 minutes to three.

--- Recess taken at 2:21 p.m.
--- Upon resuming at 2:58 p.m. 


DECISION:
     MR. VLAHOS:  The Board received a settlement proposal dated January 23rd, 2008 pertaining to Hydro Ottawa's application for 2008 rates.  Today's hearing was for the Board to receive and review the proposal and have the ability to ask clarification questions.  Having done so, the Board is in a position to render its decision.


The Board does accept the settlement proposal as filed, subject to an agreed-upon clarification to the language in paragraph 4.1(c), which appears on page 17 of the settlement proposal.  The following words should be added to that paragraph.  The words are "are as a result of subsequent Board decisions to follow 2007", so that the paragraph would now read "if any adjustments were required as part of Hydro Ottawa's year-end audit in 2007 are a result" -- I'm sorry –- "or as a result of subsequent Board decisions".  So I correct myself.  It was not "are", it was "or".


These adjustments should be recorded in the various deferral accounts for December 2007; all right?  And the paragraph continues on, no changes after that point.


In so finding, the Board has noted Staff's submissions pertaining to deferral accounts.  Settlement proposals are a result of a complex relationship of issues.  One should not look for precedential value with respect to specific elements of the settlement agreement in this case.


It is the overall cost consequence or rate outcome that the Board accepts, not necessarily the results of specific methodologies or proposals that may or may not deviate from Board regulatory instruments that may otherwise apply.


With respect to the Issue 3.4 -- that is the capitalization issue -- the Board accepts the proposal for an oral hearing of the issue, and this will commence February 4th, 2008.  As for the form of argument or specific dates of argument, that can be set at the time that we hear the oral evidence on that issue.


With respect to related Issues 4.2 and 8.4 -- and those were known as the revenue deficiency issues -- the Board accepts that these should go to written argument only.  We are open to set the dates now.


So Mr. Farrell, do you intend to file argument-in-chief on that issue?

     MR. FARRELL:  Yes.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  You are.  All right.  Could you suggest some dates then, since we are all here today, so we don't have to follow up with another instrument? 


--- Pause in proceedings.

     MR. FARRELL:  After consulting with my colleagues, Mr. Chair, I am suggesting that they would like to be able to file on the 8th, because they are tied up in another proceeding next week and thereafter.


I will suggest that Hydro Ottawa file its argument by the 6th, or -- I am just trying to think here --  I want to give them some time to read what we have to say, so we have time to respond.


So I was going to suggest the 6th or the 5th.  Maybe we will be bold about it and say that we will file by the usual afternoon deadline on Monday the 4th.


Ms. Anderson was pointing out to me that we were going to be in the hearing that day, so I will change my mind and say the usual afternoon deadline on Tuesday the 5th to just give us a little bit of wiggle room, and the intervenors would then have a full two days and more to digest what we have to say.  And then I guess we should factor in a reply, say Tuesday the 12th. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Well, let's see.  Intervenors then would have until when?

     MR. FARRELL:  The 8th is the date they are requesting.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  The 8th?  Is that sufficient? 

     MR. BUONAGURO:  It should be okay.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  So we will make it reply by intervenors February the 8th.  And, I'm sorry, was Staff contemplating filing anything on this? 

     MS. HELT:  I don't think so at this time, no.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Well, if you do, then February the 8th is still the date for you. 

     MS. HELT:  Thank you.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And then reply, Mr. Farrell? 

     MR. FARRELL:  Tuesday the 12th would be my preference, so I don't necessarily have to work through it on the weekend.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, there isn't a specific rush on this, so if you want --

     MR. FARRELL:  No, that should be enough time. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  So we will put that as a target then, anyway.


All right.  We don't have to follow up by way of an order.  Those dates are what they are.  They are in the transcript.


So with that, any questions or comments by parties? 

     MR. FARRELL:  So I'll just make sure I understand the process then.  We will update the settlement proposal to add those words and correct our three clerical mistakes in it, and we will probably file that tomorrow, and we will upload it to the Board's website tomorrow as well.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And you are clear on the other matters? 

     MR. FARRELL:  Ms. Anderson is pointing out to me that the third line of paragraph (c) of Issue 4.1 may be -- it just refers to December 2007, so perhaps we should be changing those words to account for the appropriate month, as a subsequent Board decision could be a year from now.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sorry, I missed that.  Come again, Mr. Farrell? 

     MR. FARRELL:  Your words are fine with Hydro Ottawa.  When you get to the third line, though, it is to be recorded in the accounts for December 2007.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  Yes, all right.


MR. FARRELL:  So we call it the appropriate month, if that is all right with you. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  That is fine.


All right.  Anything else?  Well, thank you very much to all the parties.  It was a pretty good result, and the document did read extremely well, so a credit to all of you.

     MR. FARRELL:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:10 p.m.
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